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INDICTMENT
THE GRAND IUR Y CHARGES THAT:
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COUNT 1
(Conspiracy to Distribute Schedule I and
Schedule II Controlled Substances)

From on or about January 1,2007, through in or about October 2008, in the Northern
District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

knowingly and intentionally conspired with Brandon Jay McFadden and other persons known
and unknown to the Grand Jury. to possess with intent to distribute and to distribute Schedule I
and Schedule II controlled substances, to-wit, marijuana; cocaine hydrochloride; and
methamphetamine, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841 (a)(I), and that
during the course of this conspiracy, the following amounts were involved: less than 50
kilograms of a mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of marijuana; less than 500
grams of a mixture or substance containing a detectible amOlUlt of cocaine hydrochloride; and in
excess of 500 grams of a mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of
methamphetamine, its salts, isomers, and salts of its isomers.
All in violation of Title 21 , United States Code, Section 846.
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COUNT 2
(Possession of Methamphetamine with
Intent to Distribute; Aiding and Abetting)
On or about January 23. 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
aided and abetted by Brandon Jay McFadden, did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent
to distribute in excess of 50 grams, hut less than 500 grams, of a mixture or substance containing
a detectible amount of methamphetamine, a Schedule II controlled substance, its salts, isomers,
and salts of its isomers.
All in violation of Title 2 1, United States Code, Section 841 (a)(I) and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2.
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COUNTJ
(Distribution of Methamphetamine; Aiding and Abetting)
In or about Spring 2007. in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
aided and abetted by Brandon Jay McFadden, and another person known to the Grand Jury, did
knowingly and intentionally distribute in excess of 50 grams, hut less than 500 grams, of a
mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of methamphetamine, a Schedule II
controlled substance. its salts, isomers, and salts o f its isomers.
All in vio lation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841 (a)(I) and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2.
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COUNT 4

(Possession of Marijuana with
Intent to Distribute; Aiding and Abetting)
On or about June 6, 2007. in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M . HENDERSON,

aided and abetted by Brandon Jay McFadden and another indiv idual known to the Grand Jury,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute less than 50 kilograms of a
mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled
substance.
All in violation or Title 21, United States Code, Section 84 1(a)( I) and Title 18. United

States Code, Section 2.
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COUNTS
(Distribution of Marijuana; Aiding and Abetting)

In or about June 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

aided and abetted by Brandon Jay McFadden, did knowingly and intentionally distribute less than
50 kilograms of a mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of marijuana, a Schedule I
controlled substance.
All in violation ofTitle 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(I ) and Title 18, United

States Code, Section 2.

I
I

I

,

I
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COUNT 6

(Distribution of Cocaine Hydrochloride)
In or about Summer 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

aided and abetted by persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury . did knowingly and
intentionally distribute in excess of 50 grams of a mixture or substance containing a detectible
amount of cocaine hydrochloride, a Schedule II controlled substance.
All in violation ofTitl e 2 1, United States Code, Section 841(a)( I) and Title 18, United

States Code, Section 2.

r

I,
I

I
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COUNT?

(Possession of Cocaine Hydrochloride with lntent to Distribute)
In or about Fa1l200?, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to di"stribute less than 500 grams of a mixture
or substance containing a detectible amount of cocaine hydrochloride, a Schedule II controlled
substance.

All in violation of Title 2 1, United States Code, Section 841(a)(I).

9

COUNTS

(Distribution of Cocaine Hydrochloride)
In or about Fall 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did knowingly and intentionally distribute less than 500 grams of a mixture or substance
containing a detectible amount of cocaine hydrochloride, a Schedule II contro lled substance.
All in violation ofTitle 2 1, United States Code, Section 841(0)(1).
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COUNT 9
(Possession of Marijuana with Intent to Distribute)

In or about January 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute less than 50 kilograms of a

mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled
substance.
All in violation ofTitie 21, United States Code, Section 841 (a)( I).

II

COUNT 10
(Distribution of Marijuana)
In or about January 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did knowingly and intentionally distribute less than 50 kilograms of a mixture or substance
containing a detectible amount of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance.
All in violation of Title 2 1, United States Code, Section 841 <a)(I).
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COUNT II
(Possess ion of Methamphetamine with Intent to Distribute)
In or about Summer 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute in excess of 50 grams, but less
than 500 grams, of a mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of methamphetamine, a
Schedule II controlled substance, its salts, isomers, and salts o f its isomers.
All in violati on ofTitle 21 , United Stales Code. Section 841 (a)( l ).
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COUNT 12
(Distri1ution of Methamphetamine)

In or about Summer 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did knowingly and intentionally distribute in excess of 50 grams, hut less than 500 grams, of a
mixture or substance containing a detectible amount of methamphetamine, a Schedule II
controlled substance, its salts, isomers, and salts of its isomers.
All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(I ).
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COUNT 13
(Possession of Firearm During and In Relation to Drug Trafficking Offense)

From on or about January 1,2007, tluough in or about October 2008, in the Northern
District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

during and in relation to the drug trafficking crime alleged in Count I of this Indictment,
knowingly carried and possessed a firearm.
All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 924(c)(I)(A)(i).
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COUNT 14
(Conspiracy to Suborn PeIjury)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 14 that:

I.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became emp loyed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPO").
2.

On or about April 16, 1985, WILLIAM A. YELTON became employed as a

police officer with the TPD.
3.

The TPD was the principal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tulsa

is located within the Northern District of Oklahoma.
4.

As officers of the TPD, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON

occupied positions of public trust and authority.

5.

As a regular part of their duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A.

YELTON participated in the preparation of affidavits for, and execution of, search, seizure and
arrest warrants; and conducted and participated in interviews and interrogations and assisted with
the preparation of witnesses for thei r courtroom testimony . As a further part of their regular
duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON testified in United States

District Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma before juries, magistrates, and district
judges.
6.

On April 7,2005, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Rochelle Martin testified falsely

in an ex parte heari ng in the case of United States v. Bobby Wayne Hafey, Sr., No. 04-CR~127TCK. As a result of this testimony, a search warrant for properties associated with Bobby Wayne
Haley, Sr. was upheld , thereby allowing incriminating evidence to be adm itted at Bobby Wayne
Haley, Sr.'s trial.
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7.

On September 30, 2005, Bobby Wayne Haley , Sr. was convicted after trial by jury

and was subsequently sentenced to a term of264 months impri sonment in the Bureau of Prisons.

B.

The Charge

From in or about April 2005, through in or about the return of this Indictment, in the
Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendants,
JEFF M. HENDERSON and
WILLIAM A. YELTON,
did knowingly conspi re and agree with one another to suborn and procure Rochelle Martin to
commit perjury by testi fying falsely under oath to a materi al matter in a case entitled United
States v. Bobby Wayne Haley, Sr., No. 04-CR- 127-TCK, in the United States District Court for

the Northern District of Oklahoma in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1622.
C.

It was material to the case described in Paragraph B of thi s Count to determine

whether Rochelle Martin had provided information to JEFF M. HENDERSON concerning drug
trafficking activity of Bobby Wayne Haley , Sr. in May 2004.
D.

JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON, on or about Apri l 7,

2005, will fully suborned and procured Rochelle Martin to test ify fal sely in the proceedings
described in Paragraph B of thi s Count that Rochelle Martin had witnessed drug trafficking
activity by Bobby Wayne Haley, Sf. and that Rochelle Martin did so fa lsel y testify under oath.
The testimony of Rochelle Martin as aforesaid was false and perjurious as JEFF M.
HENDERSON, WILLIAM A. YELTON, and Rochelle Martin well knew. Specifically,
Rochelle Martin testified under oath as fo ll ows:

[BY THE COURT)
Q:

Okay. Have you ever been at a location where you saw Bobby Wayne Haley, Sr.
sell drugs to someone?
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A:

Yes, si r.

Q:

Okay, when were those occasions?

A:

I had went - 1 had rode with my friend to - at a place, like a place of business with
cars or something, a salvage, a salvage yard. We went by there and - we went by
there to meet him one day.

Q:

Okay. Do you know about when that was?

A:

It was some months ago. It was some months ago.

Q:

Was it -

A:

Probably less than a year, but it was close to a year ago. It' s been a many. It's
been a many.

Q:

Okay. And did you tell him [JEFF M. HENDERSON] whether or not you saw

someone selling drugs?
A:

Yeah.

Q:

And who did you tell him [JEFF M. HENDERSON] you saw?

A:

J told him [JEFF M. HENDERSON] that Bobby left us in some type of little
office, it was office thing where there's a little place that, I guess where he do
busi ness for the salvage. He had left and he came back and handed him the stuff
and Bill gave him the money and we left.

Q:

Is it true that you were present during thi s drug transaction at the north - at the
salvage yard?

A:

Yes.

Q:

That you were present, you were an eyewitness to the drug transaction?

A:

Yes.

Q:

There was a friend of yours who was buying drugs; correct?

A:

Right.
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Q:

And there was another individual who was selling drugs, correct?

A:

Right

Q:

And who was the individual that was selling drugs?

A:

Bobby brought the drugs inside the office.

Q:

All right. And when you say Bobby, can you give me a fuller - full name for that
individual?

A:

Bobby Haley.

Q:

Okay. So that was Bobby Haley. Was it Bobby Haley?

A:

Senior.

Q:

Senior. Now when you told Officer Henderson that - about this transaction, you
told him who was present, correct?

A:

Right.

Q:

You told him that you were present?

A:

Right.

E.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

In furth erance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.
HENDERSON, W1LLIAM A. YELTON, and Rochelle Martin, performed one or more of the
fo llowing overt acts in the Northern District of Okl ahoma:
I.

In May 2004, JEFF M, HENDERSON prepared a ffidavits to obtain search
warrants for a residence and salvage yard associated with Bobby Haley
(hereinafter "the Haley property"). In these affidavits, J EFF M. HENDERSO
detailed information that had purportedly been provided to him by a Reliable
Confidential In fonnant ("RCI").

2.

On May 27, 2004, JEFF M. HENDERSON submitted the affidavits described in
the preceding paragraph to obtain search warrants from Tulsa County District
Court for the Haley property.

3.

On May 27, 2004, JEFF M. HENDERSON , WILLIAM A. YELTON, and
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other TPD officers executed the search warrants obtained by JEFF M.
HENDERSON for the Haley property.
4.

Sometime after May 27, 2004, JEFF M. HENDERSON caused the matter
involving the search of the Haley property described in Overt Acts 1~3 of thi s
Count to be presented to the United States Anomey's Office for the Northern
District of Oklahoma as a legitimate case to be prosecuted, and the case was
subsequently federaJly indicted.

5.

On February 25, 2005, JEFF M. HENDERSON executed a supplemental
affidavit related to the search of the Haley property in which he referred to the
RCI as a male .

6.

On April 6, 2005, JEFF M. HENDERSON contacted Rochelle Martin in an
effort to have Rochelle Martin testify falsely before United States Magistrate
Judge Paul J. Cleary the following day in a pretrial hearing pertaining to the
search warrants for the Haley property.

7.

On April 7,2005, .JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON
pi cked up Rochelle Martin and transported Rochelle Martin to the United States
Courthouse in Tulsa, Oklahoma to provide false testimony.

8.

On April 7, 2005, whi le en rOUIe to the United States Courthouse, J EFF M.
HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YE LTON instructed Rochelle Martin on
what faJse testimony she needed to give.

9.

On April 7, 2005, JEFF M. HENDERSON testified fal sely under oath
concerning the identity and veraci ty of the RCI upon which he reli ed in obtaining
the search warrants for the Hal ey property.

10.

On April 7, 2005, Rochelle Martin testified falsely before United States
Magistrate Judge Paul J. Cleary that she was the RCI for the Haley property
search warrants.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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CO UNT IS
(Conspiracy to Deprive Another Individual of Civil Rights)
A.

The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs A, C, D and E

of Count 14 of this Indictment.

B.

The Charge

From in or about May 2004, through in or about the return of this Indictment, in the
Northern Distri ct of Oklahoma, the defendants,
JEFF M. HENDERSON and
WILLIAM A. YELTON,

while acting under co lor of law, willfull y conspired and agreed with one another and wi th
Rochelle Mart in, to inj ure, oppress, threaten, and intimidate Bobby Wayne Haley. Sf. in the free
exercise and enjoyment of rights secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the United
States, that is, the right of Bobby Wayne Haley, Sr. 10 be free from unreasonable searches and
seizures by one acting under color of law and the right to be free from deprivation of liberty
without due process of law by those acting under color of law.
C.

Object of the Conspiracy

I.

The object of the conspi racy was to obtain the unlawful arrest, conviction, and

imprisonment of Bobby Way ne Haley, Sr.
D.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

I.

JE.FF M. HENDERSON utilized hi s position as a law enforce ment officer with

TPD to obstJUct j ustice through providing false informati on in affidavits submitted in support of
search and seizure warrants for a residence and salvage yard associated with Bobby Wayne
Haley, Sr.
2.

J EFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON uti lized their positions
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as law enforcement officers with TPD to obstruct justice through providing false testimony under
oath and persuading others to provide false testimony tmder oath.

3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON intentionally deprived

Bobby Wayne Haley , Sr. of rights and privileges secured by the Constitution and laws of the
United States.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 241.
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COUNT 16
(Deprivation of Civil Rights by Threatened Use of a Dangerous Weapon;
Aiding and Abetting)
On or about late Fall 2005 , in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
aided and abetted by another ind ividual known to the Grand Jury, did wi ll fu lly act under color of
law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive James Fue of rights, privileges, an~
immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the
right of James Fue to be free from an unreasonable seizure of his person by one acting under
color of law in that JEFF M. H ENDER SON and the ind ividual known to the Grand Jury
unlawfully kidnapped James F ue and threatened him with a firearm.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242 and Section 2.
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COUNT 17
(Conspiracy to Deprive Another Individual of Civil Rights)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 17 that:

I.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became emp loyed as a police

offi cer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD"). a certifi ed law enforcement agency of the
State of Oklahoma.

2.

In or about July 2002, Brandon Jay McFadden became empl oyed as a special

agent with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Ex plosives ("ATF") and was assigned
to the AIF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma. As such, Brandon Jay McFadden was
a sworn federal law enforcement officer.

3.

The TPD was the pri ncipal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tulsa

is located within the Northern District of Oklahoma.

4.

The Tulsa, Oklahoma Resident Agency of the AIF was a federal Jaw enforcement

agency responsible for investigating potential violations of the federal firearms laws and related
violent crime and drug trafficking activity occurring within the Northern District of Okl ahoma.
5.

As sworn law enforcement officers, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden occupied positions of public trust and authority.
6.

As a regular part of their duties, JEFF M. H ENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden participated in the preparation of reports docwnenting investigative activities and
witness interviews. These reports are general ly relied upon by prosecuting attorneys in order to
determine if the case has prosecuti ve merit and if the case presents any signifi cant evidentiary or
Constitutional issues. These reports are also uti lized by prosecuting attorneys in preparing for
and presenting evidence to petit and grand juries and judges. As a fu rther part of their regular
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duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden conducted and participated in
interviews and interrogations and assisted with the preparation of witnesses for their courtroom
testimony. As a furth er part of their regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay
McFadden testifi ed in United States District Court fo r the Northern Di strict of Ok lahoma before
peti t juries and district judges.

B.

The Charge

From in or about January 2007, through in or about April 20 10, in the Northern District
of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
and Brandon J. McFadden, while acting under co lor of law, did will full y conspire and agree with
one another to injure, oppress, threaten and intimidate Ryan Logsdon in the free exercise and
enjoyment of rights secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the U nited States, that is, the
right of Ry an Logsdon to be free from unreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color
of law and to receive due process of law before being deprived o f property by one acting under
co lor of law.
C.

Objects oj/he Conspiracy

1.

The object of the cons piracy was to unlawfull y seize money and drugs from Ryan

Logsdon.

D.

Manner and Means oj the Conspiracy

1.

JEFF M. HENDERSON utilized his position as a law enforce ment officer with

TPD to obstruct j ustice through providing fa lse information in an affidavit submitted in support
of a search and seizure warrant for the residence of Ryan Logsdon.

rI
,

2.

JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden util ized their positions as
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law enforcement officers to obstruct justice through the ill egal seizure of money and drugs during
the search of Ryan Logsdon's residenc.e.

3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden intentionally deprived

Ryan Logsdon of rights and privileges secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.

E.

Overt Acts in Furtherance o/the Conspiracy

In furth erance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the obj ects thereof, JEFF M.

HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden performed one Or more of the fo llowing overt acts
in the Northern Di strict of Oklahoma:

I.

In or about January 19.2007. JEFF M. HENDERSON prepared and obtained an
illegal and fraudulent search warrant for the residence of Ryan Logsdon. JEFF
M. HENDERSON falsely represented in the search warrant affidavit that a
Reliable C;onfidentiaJ Informant (RCI) stated that Ryan Logsdon was selling drugs
from his residence.

2

In or about January 23, 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden
and other individuals known to the Grand Jury executed the search warrant
referenced in Overt Act 1 of this Count on the residence of Ryan Logsdon. During
the search of Ryan Logsdon ' s residence, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon
Jay McFadden illegally se ized money and drugs for their personal benefit.

3.

In or about late January or early February 2007, JEFF M. HENDE RSON falsely
documented the identity of the RCI in internal TPD intelligence reports.

All in violation of Title 18, United Stales Code, Section 24 1.
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COUNT 18
(Conspiracy to Deprive Another Ind ividual of Civil Rights)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 18 that:

1.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDE RSO N became employed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD"), a certified law enforcement agency of the
State of Oklahoma.
2.

In or about July 2002, Brandon Jay McFadden became employed as a special

agent with the Bureau of Alcohol , Tobacco, Fi reanns, and Explosives ("ATF") and was assigned
to the ATF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma. As such, Brandon Jay McFadden was

a sworn federal law enforcement officer.
3.

On or about March 1, 1990, John K. Gray, al so known as J.J . Gray. became

employed as a po lice officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD"), a certified law

enforcement agency of the State of Oklahoma.
4.

The TPD was the principal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tulsa

is located wi thin the Northern Di strict of Oklahoma.
5.

The Tul sa, Oklahoma Resident Agency of the ATF was a federal law enforcement

agency responsib le for investigating potential violations of the federa l firearms laws and related
violent crime and drug trafficking activity occurring within the Northern Di strict of Oklahoma.
6.

As sworn law enforcement officers, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon .lay

McFadden, and John K. Gray occupied positions of pub lic trust and authority.
7.

As a regular part of their duties, J EFF M. HEN DERSO N, Brandon Jay

McFadden and John K. Gray, also known as J.J. Gray, participated in the preparation of reports
documenting investigative activi ties and witness interviews. These reports are generally relied
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upon by prosecuting attorneys in order to determine if the case has prosecutive merit and if the
case presents any significant evidentiary or Constitutional issues. These reports are also utilized
by prosecuting attorneys in preparing for and presenting evidence to petit and grand juries and
judges. As a further part of their regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay
McFadden and John K. Gray, also known as 1.J. Gray, conducted and participated in interviews
and interrogations and assisted with the preparation of witnesses for their courtroom testimony.
As a furthe r part of thei r regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and
John K. Gray, also known as J.J. Gray, testifi ed in United States District Court for the Northern
District of Oklahoma before petit juries and district judges.

B.

The Charge

From in or about February 22, 2007, through in or about the return of this Indictment, in
the Northern Di strict of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
Brandon Jay McFadden, John K. Gray, also known as J.J. Gray. and another TPD offi cer known
to the Grand Jury, while acting under color of law, did willfully conspire and agree with one
another to injure, oppress, threaten and intimidate Jerry Hill in the free exercise and enjoyment of
rights secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the Uni ted States, that is, the right of Jerry
Hill to be free from unreasonable seizure by one acting under co lor of law and to receive due
process of law before being deprived of property by one acting under color of law.

c.

Objects of the Conspiracy

I.

The object of the conspiracy was to unlawfully seize money from Jerry Hill for the

personal benefit of JEFF M . HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, John K. Gray, also
known as J.1 . Gray , and another TPD offi cer known to the Grand Jury .
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I

D.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

I.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, John K. Gray, also known as

J.1 . Gray, and another TPD officer known to the Grand Jury, utilized their pos itions as law
enforcement officers to obstruct justice through the illegal seizure of money from Jerry Hill.
2.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, John K. Gray, also known as

J.J . Gray, and another TPD officer known to the Grand Jury, intentionally deprived Jerry Hill of
rights and privileges secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.

E.

Overt Acts in Furtherance ofthe Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.
HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, John K. Gray, also known as J.J. Gray, and another

TPD officer known to the Grand Jury perfonned one or more of the following overt acts in the
Northern District of Oklahoma:
I.

In or about February 22, 2007,JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon J. McFadden,
John K. Gray, also known as J.J. Gray, and another TPD officer known to the

Grand Jury executed a search warrant on the residence of Jerry Hill. During the
execution of the search warrant, money was taken from Jerry Hill for the personal
benefit of these law enforcement offi cers.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 241.
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COUNT 19
(Conspiracy to Depri ve Indi vidual s ofCivi i Rights)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 19 that:

I.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became employed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD"), a certified law enforcement agency of the

State of Ok lahoma.
2.

In or about July 2002, Brandon Jay McFadden became emp loyed as a special

agent with the Bureau of Al cohol , Tobacco, Fireanns, and Explosives ("ATF") and was assigned
to the ATF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma. As such, Brandon Jay McFadden was
a sworn federal law enforcement offi cer.

3.

The TPO was the principal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tulsa

is located within the Northern Distri ct of Oklahoma.

4.

The Tulsa, Oklahoma Resident Agency of the ATF was a federal law enforcement

agency responsible for investigating potential violations of the federal firearms laws and related
violent crime and drug trafficking acti vity occurring within the Northern District of Oklahoma.
5.

As sworn law enforcement officers, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden occupied positions of public trust and authority.

6.

As a regular part of their duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden participated in the preparation of reports documenting investigative activities and
witness interviews. These reports are generally relied upon by prosecuting attorneys in order to
detennine if the case has prosecutive merit and if the case presents any significant evidentiary or
Constitutional issues. These reports are also utilized by prosecuting attorneys in preparing for
and presenting evidence to petit and grand juries and judges. As a further part o f their regular
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duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden conducted and participated in
interviews and interrogations and assisted with the preparation of witnesses for their courtroom
testi mony. As a further part of their regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay
McFadden testified in United States District Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma before
petit juries and district judges.

7.

On April 21-22, 2008, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, and an

unindicted co-conspirator known to the Grand Jury testified fal sely in a jury trial in the case of

United States v. Larry Wayne Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes, No. 07-C R-135-CVE.
8.

On April 23 , 2008, Larry Wayne Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes were each

convicted after trial by jury. Larry Wayne Barnes, Sr. was subsequently sentenced to a term of
66 months imprisonment in the Bureau of Prisons. Larita Barnes was subsequently sentenced to
a term of 120 months in the Bureau of Prisons.
B.

The Charge

From in or about May 2007, through in or about June 2009, in the Northern District of
Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
Brandon Jay McFadden, and another person known to the Grand Jury, while acting under color
of law, did willfully conspire and agree with one another to injure, oppress, threaten and
intimidate Larry Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in their free exerci se and enjoyment of rights
secured to them by the Constitution and laws of the United States, that is, the right of Larry
Barnes, Sf. and Larita Barnes to be free from unlawful arrest and imprisonment by one acting
under co lor of law and to receive due process of law before being deprived of liberty by one
acting under color of law.
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C.

Objects of the Conspiracy

1.

The obj ect of the conspiracy was to obtain the unlawful arrest, conviction, and

imprisonment o f Lany Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes.

D.

Manner and Means ofthe Conspiracy

1.

JEFF M. HENDERSON utilized his position as a law enforcement officer with

TPD to obstruct justice through providi ng false information in TPD repo rts submitted in support
of the prosecution of Lany Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes.

2.

JEFF M. H ENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden utilized their positi ons as

law enforcement o fficers to obstruct justice through providing false testimony under oath and
persuading another individual known to the Grand Jury to provide false testimony under oath.

3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden aod aoother ind ividual known

to the Grand Jury intentionally deprived Larry Barnes, Sf. and Larita Barnes o f ri ghts and
privi leges secured by the Constitution and laws of the Uni ted States.

E.

Overt Acts in Furtherance ofthe Conspiracy

In furtherance o f the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M ..
HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, and another individual known to the Grand Jury
performed one or more of the follow ing oyert acts in the Northern District of Oklahoma:

1.

In or about Spring 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON and aoother individual known
to the Grand Jury agreed that the individual would falsely represent that he
purchased illegal drugs from Larry Barnes Sr. and Larita Barnes during a
controJled buy on May 8, 2007, during which the individual allegedly acted as a
confidential informant.

2.

In or about May 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON prepared official TPD repons
falsely documenting that a controlled drug buy of three ounces o f
methamphetamine from Larry Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes was made by the
individual referred to in Overt Act 1 of this Count. These TPD reports further
fa lsely documented that the drug buy occurred on May 8, 2007, and that the
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individual paid Larry Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes $3,000 in exchange for the
methamphetamine.

3..

Sometime after May 8, 2007, J EFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden presented the purported controlled drug buy described in Overt Acts 1
and 2 of this Count to the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern
District of Oklahoma as a legitimate case to be prosecuted and the case was
subsequently federally indicted.
4.

In or about April 2008, JEFF M. HEN DE RSON and Brandon Jay McFadden
coached the individual described in Overt Act 1 of this Count to testify falsely in

an upcoming trial at that he/she had made the purported controlled buy from Lany
Barnes, Sr. and Lari ta Bameson May 8, 2007.
5.

On ApriI 21 and 22, 2008, J EFF M. H ENDERSON testified falsely that the
contro lled drug purchase of methamphetamine was made from Larry Bames, Sr.

and Larita Barnes on May 8, 2007, and that he conducted surveillance during the
purported controlled drug purchase.
6.

On April 22, 2008, Brandon Jay McFadden testified fal sely that the controlled
drug purchase of methamphetamine was made from Lany Barnes, Sr. and Larita

Barnes on May 8, 2007, and that he conducted surveillance during the purported
controlled drug purchase.
7.

On April 22, 2008, the individual described in Overt Act I of this Count testified
falsely that he made a controlled purchase of methamphetamine from Larry
Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes on May 8, 2007, and that after the purported drug
purchase, he provided the purchased methamphetamine to JEFF M.
HEN DE RSON and Brandon Jay McFadden.

8.

On or about June 29, 2009, J EFF M. HEN DERSON engaged in a telephone

conversation with the individual described in Overt Act 1 of th is Count during
which JEFF M. HENDERSON instructed the individua l to "stick to the truth and
stick to the reports" if asked about the legitimacy of the Barnes' case by any
investigators.
AJI in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 241 .
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COUNT 20
(Conspiracy to Commit Perjury)
A.

The Grand Jury reaJleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs A, C, D and E

of Count 19 of thi s Indictment.

B.

The Charge

From in or about May 2007, through in or about June 2009, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
willfully conspired with Brandon Jay McFadden, and another individual known to the Grand Jury
to commit petjury in the matter of United Stafes v. lArry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No .
07-CR-1 35-CVE in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I).

c.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.
HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, and another individua l known to the Grand Jury
performed one or more of the following overt acts in the Northern District of Oklahoma:
I.

In or about Spring 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON and another individual known
to the Grand Jury agreed that the individual would falsely represent that he
purchased ill egal drugs from Larry Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes during a
controlled buy in which the individual allegedly acted as a confidential infonnant.

2.

In May 2007, .JEFF M. HENDERSON prepared official TPD reports fa lsely
documenting that a purported drug purchase of three ounces of methamphetamine
by the individual from Larry Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes for $3,000 in buy
money took place on May 8, 2007.

3.

After May 8, 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden
presented the matter to the United States Attorney ' s Office for the Northern
District ofOkJahoma as a legitimate case to be prosecuted.

4.

Prior to trial , in or about April 2008, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay
McFadden coached another indi vidual known to the Grand Jury to testify falsely
that he/she had made the purported controlled buy.
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5.

During the trial in April 2008, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden,

and another individual known to the Grand Jury testified falsely that the
controlled drug purchase of methamphetamine was made from Larry Barnes, Sf.
and Larita Barnes on May 8, 2007.

All in violation of Tille ) 8, United States Code, Section 37 1.
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COUNT 21
(Perjury)
1.

On or about Apri l 2 1,2008, in the Northern District o f Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury

tri a1 in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No. 07-CR-135
eVE, that he would testify truly, did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Bames, Sr. and Larita Barnes in ajury trial based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8, 2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had d istributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007 to Ryan Logsdon, who was acti ng as a
confidential informant
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M . HEND ER SO N appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified fal sely with respect to these
materi al matters as follow s:

[BY THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY]
Q:

Were you able to observe Mr. Logsdon ex it hi s vehicle?

A:

Yes.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M . H ENDER SO N, as he then and there

well knew and bel ieved , was false in that, on May 8,2007. Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M .
H E NDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testi fied.
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All in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 162 1(1 }.
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COUNT 22
(peIjury)
1.

On or about Apri l 21 , 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No. 07-CR-J35
eVE, that he would testify truly , did willfully and contrary to said oath slate material matter
which he did not bel ieve to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Bames, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a jury trial based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8, 2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential infonnant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material mailers as follows:

[B Y THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY]
Q:

What happened after he [Ryan Logsdon] exited his vehicle?

A:

I observed him walk directly from hi s vehicle to the front door of7116 East
Newton Street and knock on the front door at that point.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that, on May 8, 2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 162 1(1).
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COUNT 23
(Pe~ury)

I.

On or about April 21> 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Lorita Barnes, Case No. 07~CR-135
eVE, that he would testify truly , did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a jury trial based on an indictment charging them ~ith drug
distribution on May 8,2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above J EFF M . HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified fal sely with respect to these
material matters as fo llows:

[BY THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY]
Q:

Okay. And when he [Ryan Logsdon1 knocked on the front door, were yOll still
able to observe him?

A:

Yes.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that, on May 8, 2007, Ryan Logsdon d id not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M .
HENDER SON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621(1).
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COUNT 24
(perjury)
1.

On or about April 21,2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larila Barnes, Case No. 07-CR-135
eVE, that he would testify truly, did willfull y and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Bames in ajury tri al based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8, 2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had d istributed methamphetamine on May 8,2 007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential infonnant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified fal sely with respect to these
material matters as follow s:

[BY THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATIORNEYj
Q:

What did you observe?

A:

The front door opened. He [Ryan Logsdon] was greeted by a white female. At
that time f did not know I couldn't make out the identity of that person. The
female stepped onto the front porch. This was a brief, maybe seconds, two to
three seconds. Then both the individuals, Mr. Logsdon and the female, walked
into the home.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that, on May 8,2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
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purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct survei llance as he testi fied.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 162 1( 1).
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COUNT 25
(pelj lIIJ')
1.

On or about Apri l 21,2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defe ndant.

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during ajury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No.

07~CR-135

eVE, that he would testify truly, did willfull y and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in ajury trial based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8, 2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acti ng as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified fal sely with respect to these
materi al matters as follows:

[BY THE ASSIST ANT UN ITED STATES ATIORNEYJ
Q:

Okay. And did you and Special Agent McFadden stay in the vehicle?

A:

We did.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was fal se in that, on May 8, 2007. Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and J EFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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All in violation ofritle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I ).
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COUNT 26
(Perjury)
I.

On or about April 21, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during ajury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Lorita Barnes, Case No . 07·CR-1 35

eVE, that he would testify truly, did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a jury trial based on an indictment chargi ng them with drug
di stribution on May 8, 2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a

confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSO N appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material matters as fo llows:

[BY THE ASS ISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEYj
Q:

Okay. And how long was Mr. Logsdon in the residence?

A:

Five minutes, give or take seconds. It was not a long time, but roughly five
minutes inside the home.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSO N, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that, on May 8, 2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine o r any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I).
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COUNT 27
(Perjury)
I.

On or about April 2 1, 2008, in the Northern District of Ok lahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No. 07-CR-135
eVE, that he would testify truly, did wi llfull y and contrary to said oath state material matter

which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a jury trial based on an ind ictment charging them with drug
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di stribution on May 8, 2007: It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes

had distri buted methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon , who was acting as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSO N appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material matters as follows:

[BY THE ASSIST ANT UN ITED STATES ATTORNEY]
Q:

After the fi ve minutes were up, what happened?

A:

It was observed by mysel f and Agent McFadden when Mr. Logsdon exited
through the front door oftbe home walking directly back to his vehicle, at that
point getting ioto his vehicle and driving off to the east from the location.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was fa lse in that, on May 8, 2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
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HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621(1).
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COUNT 28
(Perjury)
1.

On or about April 21) 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Clai re V. Eagan during a jury
trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No. 07·CR- J35

eVE, that he would testify truly . did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matte r
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a jury trial based on an indictment chargi ng them with drug
distribution on May 8, 2007. h was material to the indictment a nd in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above J EFF M . H ENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material matters as follows:

[BY THE ASSISTANT UN ITED STA TES ATTORNEY]
Q:

Okay, what happened when you arrived at the Warehouse Market?

A:

We pulled into the Warehouse Market where at that point we debri efed Mr.
Logsdon. And. 1 conducted a secondary search of hi s person while Agent
McFadden searched his vehicle for a second time.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that, on May 8, 2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine o r any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
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HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
All in violation ofTit le 18, United States Code, Section 162 1( 1),
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COUNT 29
(perjury)
I.

On or about April 21,2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge C laire V. Eagan during a jury

trial in the matter of United States v. Larry Barnes and Lorita Barnes, Case No. 07 CR·1 35
M

eVE, that he would testify truly, did wi ll fully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in a j ury trial based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8,2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had di stri buted methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material matters as fo llows:
[BY THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES A TTORNEYj
Q:

Prior to searching Mr. Logsdon and the vehicle did he provide anythi?g to you?

A:

Yes he d id.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and beli eved, was false in that, on May 8,2007, Ryan Logsdon d id not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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All in violat ion ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (1).
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COUNT 30
(pe~ury)

1.

On or about April 21, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a jury

triaJ in the matter of United Stales v. Larry Barnes and Larita Barnes, Case No. 07-CR-1 35
eVE. that he would testify truly , did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above. the United States was prosecuting Larry

Barnes, Sr. and Larita Barnes in ajury trial based on an indictment charging them with drug
distribution on May 8,2007. It was material to the indictment and in the trial whether the Barnes
had distributed methamphetamine on May 8, 2007, to Ryan Logsdon, who was acting as a
confidential informant.
3.

At the time and place referenced above J EFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness at the trial and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect to these
material matters as follows:

[BY THE ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATIORNEY]
Q:

What did he [Ryan Logsdon] provide for you?

A:

He handed me a rolled up sandwich baggie that contained what appeared to be
approximately three ounces of suspected crystal methamphetamine.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was fal se in that, on May 8,2007, Ryan Logsdon did not make a
purchase of methamphetamine or any drugs at all from Larry and Larita Barnes and JEFF M.
HENDERSON did not conduct surveillance as he testified.
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·

All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 162 1( 1).
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COUNT 31
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about June 6, 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Juan
Mala and Nelson Arias of ri ghts, privileges, and immunitie,s secured and protected by the

Constitution and laws of the Uni ted States, to wit, the right of Juan Mata and Nelson Arias to be
free from an unreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 32
(Conspiracy to Deprive Another Indi vidual of Civi l Ri ghts)
A.

It is pert i.ent to Count 32 that:

I.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became employed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD"), a certified law enforcement agency of the

State of Oklahoma.
2.

In or about July 2002, Brandon Jay McFadden became employed as a special

agent with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives ("ATF") and was assigned
to the ATF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma. As such, Brandon Jay McFadden was
a sworn fede ral law enforcement officer.

3.

The TPD was the principal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tulsa

is located within the Northern District of Oklahoma .

4.

The Tul sa, Oklahoma Resident Agency of the ATF was a federal law enforcement

agency responsible for investigating potential violations of the fede ral firearms laws and related
violent crime and drug trafficking activity occurring within the Northern District of Oklahoma.
5.

As sworn law enforcement officers, JEFF M. H EN DERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden occupied positions of pub lic trust and authority.
6.

As a regu lar part of their duties, J EFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay

Mc Fadden participated in the preparation of reports documenting investigative activi ties and
witness interv iews. These reports are generally relied upon by prosecuting attorneys in order to
determine if the case has prosecutive merit and jfthe case presents any significant evidenti ary or
Constitut ional issues. These reports are also utilized by prosecuti ng attorneys in preparing for
and presenting evidence to petit and grand juries and judges. As a further part of their regular
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duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden conducted and participated in
interviews and interrogations and assisted with the preparation of witnesses for their courtroom
testimony. As a further part of their regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay
McFadden testified in United States District Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma before

petit juries and district judges.
B.

The Charge

From in or about June 12,2007, tluough in or about the return of this Indictment, in the
Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
Brandon Jay McFadden and other persons known to the Grand Jury, while acting under color of
law, did willfully conspire and agree with one another to injure, oppress, threaten and intimidate
Isaias Gonzalez in the free exercise and enjoyment of rights secured to him by the Constitution
and Jaws of the United States, that is, the right to receive due process of law before being
deprived of property by one acting under color of law.

C.

Objects of the Conspiracy

1.

The object of the conspiracy was to unlawfully seize money and drugs from Isaias

Gonzalez.

D.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

I.

JEFF M . HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and other ind ividuals known

to the Grand Jury, utilized thei r positions as law enforcement officers to obstruct justice through
the illegal seizure of money and drugs during the search of Isaias Gonzalez' residence.
3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and other ind ividuals known

to the Grand Jury , intentionally deprived Isaias Gonzalez of ri ghts and privileges secured by the
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Constitution and laws of the United States.

E.

Overl Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.

HEN DERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and other ind ividuals known to the Grand Jury,

performed one or more of the following overt acts in the Northern District of Oklahoma:
I.

In or about June 12,2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden,
and other individual s known to the Grand Jury . unJawfully seized drugs and

money from Isaias Gonzalez for their personal benefit.
All in violation of Title 18. United States Code, Section 241.
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COUNT 33
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about July 11 ,2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did wi ll fully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Jason
Williamson, Brandon Garland, and Donald Jordan of rights, privileges, and immunities secured
and protected by the Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Jason

Williamson, Brandon Garland, and Donald Jordan to be free from an unreasonable search and
seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT34 .
(Deprivation of Civi l Rights)
On or about July 19,2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color o f law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Elton
Shaw of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws of
the United States, to wit, the right of Elton Shaw to be free from an unreasonable search and
seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in vio lation of Title 18. United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 35
(Deprivation of Civi l Rights)
On

Or

about August 14,2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of Jaw, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Dustin
Shelley of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws
of the United States, to wit, the right of Dustin Shelley to be fre e from an unreasonable search
and seizure by one acting under color of law.
AJI in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.

,

62

COUNT 36
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about August 14, 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under co lor of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Corey

Wayne Smith of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and
laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Corey Wayne Smith to be free from an umeasonable
search and seizure by one acting under co lor of law.
All in vio lation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 37
(Consp iracy to Deprive Another Individual of Civi l Rights)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 37 that

I.

On or abo ut June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became employed as a pol ice

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPO"), a certified law enforcement agency of the

State of Oklahoma.
2.

In or about July 2002, Brandon Jay McFadden became employed as a special

agent with the Bureau of Alcoho l, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives ("ATF") and was assigned
to the ATF Resident Agency located in Tul sa. Oklahoma. As such, Brandon Jay McFadden was
a sworn federal law enforcement officer.

3.

The TPD was the principal law enforcement agency for Tulsa, Oklahoma. Tul sa

is located within the Northern District of Oklahoma.

4.

The Tul sa, Oklahoma Resident Agency of the ATF was a federal law enforcement

agency responsibl e for investigating potential violations of the federal firearms laws and related
violent crime and drug traffick ing activi ty occurring within the Northern District of Okl ahoma.
5.

As sworn law enforcement officers, JEFF M. H ENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden occupied positions of public trust and authority .

6.

As a regular part of their duties, JEFF M. H ENDERSON and Brandon Jay

McFadden participated in the preparation of reports documenting investigative activities and
witness interviews. These repo rts are generally relied upon by prosecuting attorneys in order to
determine iftbe case has prosecutive merit and iftbe case presents any significant evidentiary or
Constitutional issues. These reports are also utilized by prosecuting attorneys in preparing for
and presenting ev idence to petit and grand juries and judges. As a further part of their regular
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duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay McFadden conducted and participated in
interviews and interrogations and assisted with the preparati on of witnesses for their courtroom
testimony. As a further part of their regular duties, JEFF M. HENDERSON and Brandon Jay
McFadden testified in United States District Court for the Northern Di strict ofOkJahoma before
petit juries and district judges.

B.

The Charge

From in or aoout September 2007, through in or about April 2010, in the Northern
District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
Brandon Jay McFadden and other persons known to the Grand Jury, while acting under color of
law, did willfully conspire and agree with one another to injure, oppress, threaten and intimidate
Jose Angel Gonzalez in the free exercise and enjoyment of rights secured to him by the
Constitution and laws of the United States, that is, the right to be free from unreasonable search
and seizure by one acting under color of law.

C.

Objects of the Conspiracy

1.

The object of the conspiracy was to un lawfully obtain the arrest, conviction and

imprisonment of Jose Angel Gonzalez.

D.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

1.

JEFF M. HENDERSON utilized his position as a law enforcement officer with

TPD to obstruct justice through providing fal se infonnation in an affidavit submitted in support
of a search and seizure warrant for the residence of Jose Angel Gonzalez.
2.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and other ind ividuals known

to the G rand Jury utili zed their positions as Jaw enforcement officers to obstruct justice through
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the illegal search of Jose Angel Gonzalez' residence.
3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden and other individuals known

to the Grand Jury, intentionally deprived Jose Angel Gonzalez of rights and privileges secured by
the Constitution and laws of the United States.
E.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.
HENDERSON, Brandon Jay McFadden, and other indiv idua ls known to the Grand Jury

performed one or more of the following overt acts in the Northern District of Oklahoma:
I.

In or about September 2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON, Brandon 1. McFadden
and other TPD officers known to the Grand Jury, illegally entered the residence o{
Jose Angel Gonzalez without a search warrant. While in the residence, one of the
conspirators moved a gun from the closet of the residence to a vent in the
residence.

2

In or about September 25, 2007, J EFF M. HENDERSON prepared and received
a Tulsa County search warrant in which he falsely represented that an Reliable
Confidential Infonnant (RCI) had observed Jose Angel Gonzalez selling drugs
from his residence.

3.

In or about September 26,2007, JEFF M. HENDERSON and other individuals
known to the Grand Jury executed the search warrant referenced in Overt Act 2 in
this Count.

4.

On or about September 27, 2007, JEFF M. HEN DERSON caused another
indiv idual to falsely document the identity of the RCI in internal TPD intelligence
reports.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 241 .

66

COUNT 38
(Deprivation ofCivi i Rights)
On or about October 31 , 2007, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the de fe ndant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did willfully act Wlder color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Alphie
McKinney of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and
laws of the Uni ted States, to wit, the right of Alphie McKi nney to be free from an unreasonable

search and seizure by one acting un\ier color of law.
All in vio lation of Ti tle 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 39
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about February 12, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Carah
Bartel and William Kinnard of rights. privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the
Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the right ofCarah Bartel and William Kinnard
to be free from an unreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color oflaw.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 40
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about March 7, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Jamon
Pointer and Lyndell Pointer of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the
Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Jamon Pointer and Lyndell Pointer
to be free from an Wlreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 41
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about March 13, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
WILLIAM A. YELTON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Otis

Colbert of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws
of the United States, to wit, the ri ght of Otis Colbert to be free from an umeasonable search and
seizure by one acting under color of law.

All in violation of Title J 8, United States Code, Section 242.
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COU T42
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)

On or about August 29. 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma. the defendant.
WILLIAM A. VELTON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute. ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive
Demetrius "Cleo" Hill of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the
Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Demetrius "Cleo" Hill to be free
from an unreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 43
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about November 12, 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive
Cornelius Jones of rights, privi leges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution
and laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Cornelius Jones to be free from an unreasonable
search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.

I

II·
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COUNT 44
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about December 16,2008, in the No rthern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

WILLIAM A. VELTON,
did wi ll fully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Nathan
Sanders of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws
of the United States, to wit, the right of Nathan Sanders to be free from an unreasonable search
and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.

I

i
I

I,
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COUNT 45
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about January 12, 2009, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Ronald
Crawford of rights, privil eges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and
laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Ronald Crawford to be free fro m an unreasonable
search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNT 46
(peIjury)
1.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing unti l on or about May 12,2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify trul y. did wi llfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a fe lon in possession of a firearm and
ammuni tion on January 12, 2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether J EFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford 's residence in
Tul sa, Oklahoma on January Sand 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified fa lsely with respect
to these material matters as fo llows:
[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]

Q:

And during that same time period on January 5th only, did you actuall y see Mr. •
Crawford?

A:

Trying not to identify the reliable confi dential informant. Yes, January ~h.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and beli eved , was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January S and January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

7S

All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I).
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COUNT 47
(Pe~ury)

I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing until on or about May 12.2009, in the

Northern Di strict of Oklahoma, the defendant,
J EFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath be fore Chief United States District Judge C lai re V. Eagan during a

suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026e VE, that he would testify truly, did willfully and contrary to sa id oath state materi al matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felo n in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12, 2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether J EFF M. HENDE RSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. H EN DERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified fa lsely with respect
to these material matters as fo llows:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]
Q:

Okay. And on January 5th did you see Mr. Crawford at that home that' s listed in
the search warrant and affidavit for search warrant or somewhere else?

A:

At the home on the search warrant, 3631 South Phoenix.

4.

The above referenced testimony of J EFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and be lieved, was false in that JEFF M. HEN DERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January Sand January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
77

All in vio lati on of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I).

,.
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COVNT48
(peljury)
I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing until on or about May 12,2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDE RSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a

suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify truly, did wi ll fu lly and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

•

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felon in possession of a fireann and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether J EFF M. HENDERSO N saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, J EFF M. HEND ERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified fa lsely with respect

•

to these material matters as follows:
[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]

Q:

Okay. And certainly no questions I'm asking are designed to elicit who the RCI
is. Did yOll, did YOll personally and not any other officers with you see Mr.
Crawford ?

A:

I personall y did .

4.

The above referenced testimony of J E FF M. HENDE RSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that J EFF M. H ENDERSO N did not see Ronald Crawford
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on January Sand January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
All in violat ion ofTi tle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (I).
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COUNT 49
(Perjlll)')
I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing until on or about May 12, 2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United Slales v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would te stify truly . did wi llfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felon in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12, 2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Rona ld Crawford's residence in
Tulsa, Ok lahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified fa lsely with respect
to these material matters as follows:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]
Q:

Okay and on that day , where was he when you saw him?

A:

At the residence in the driveway going into the home on January 5

4.

th
.

The above referenced testimony of J EFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January 5 and January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
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All in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 162 1( 1).

I
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COUNT 50
(Perjury)
I.

On or about May 8,2009, and continuing until on or about May 12,2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M, HENDERSON,
having dul y taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge C laire V. Eagan during a

suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify tru ly, did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not be lieve to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felon in possession of a fireann and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford 's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect
to these material matters as follo ws:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]
Q:

Okay. And between 9:30 and 10:30 did you see Mr. Crawford?

A:

Yes.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed , was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawfo rd
on January 5 and January 6 , 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
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All in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 1621( 1).
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COUNTSI
(Peljury)
1.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing until on or about May 12,2009, in the

. Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify truly , did willfully and contrary to said oath state materiaJ matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:

2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Rona1d

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felon in possess ion of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford's residence in
Tul sa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect
to these material matters as follows:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]

Q:

Where was he then?

A:

Coming and going from the residence, from the yard to the Suburban and back to
the home.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January Sand January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1621 ( 1).
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COUNT 52
(Perjury)
1.

On or about May 8,2009, and continuing until on or about May 12,2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief U nited States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a

suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testi fy truly. did w illfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Rona ld

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a fe lon in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppress ion hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Rona ld Crawford 's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January S and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M . H EN DERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified false ly with respect
to these material matters as fo llows:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL]
Q:

Okay. And you' re sure that it was this man, Ronald Crawford , and nobody else
who might have looked like him?

A:

I'm positive.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M . HEN DE R SON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January Sand January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

87

All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621(1).

•
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COUNTS3
(PeIjury)
I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing until on o r about May 12, 2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

having duly taken an oath before Chief Uni ted States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United Slales v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify truly, did wi llfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not be lieve to be true, that is to say:
2.

Allhe time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with bei ng a felon in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M . HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford 's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.

3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERS ON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified false ly with respect
to these materiaJ mallers as fo llows:

[BY THE COURT]
Q:

Okay. And during that time period of two and a hal f hours, do you recall when
during that period you believe you saw Mr. Crawford?

A:

The Suburban that Mr. Crawford I believe was driving was there when we arrived
around one o'clock. I'll estimate an approximate time, maybe 45 minutes to an
hour into the surveillance I observed Mr. Crawford.

4.

lbe above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDE RSON, as he then and there

well knew and beli eved, was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
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on January 5 and January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
All in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (1).
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COUNT 54
(Perj ury)
I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and conti nuing until on or about May 12,2009, in the

Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would test ifY truly, did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a fe lon in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the ind ictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford 's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma on January 5 and 6, 2009.
3.

At the time and place referenced above, .JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified falsely with respect
to these material matters as follows:
[BY THE COURT]

Q:

And you' re absolutely certai n, from prior ex perience with Me. Crawford, that he
was there at that house because he came out and you saw him between one and
3:30 that day?

A:

Correct. Yes.

4.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M. HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and believed, was false in that JEFF M. HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
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on January 5 and January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
All in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 1621 (1).

•
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COVNTSS
(Perjury)
I.

On or about May 8, 2009, and continuing unt il on or about May 12,2009, in the

f
Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
having duly taken an oath before Chief United States District Judge Claire V. Eagan during a
suppression hearing in the matter of United States v. Ronald Crawford, Case No. 09-CR-026eVE, that he would testify truly, did willfully and contrary to said oath state material matter
which he did not believe to be true, that is to say:
2.

At the time and place referenced above, the United States was prosecuting Ronald

Crawford based on an indictment charging him with being a felon in possession of a firearm and
ammunition on January 12,2009. It was material to the indictment and in a suppression hearing
whether JEFF M. HENDERSON saw Ronald Crawford at Ronald Crawford's residence in
Tulsa, Oklahoma o n January S and 6, 2009.

3.

At the time and place referenced above, JEFF M. HENDERSON appeared as a

witness in a suppression hearing and then and there being under oath testified fal sely with respect
to these material matters as follows:
[BY THE COURT]
Q:

And everything that is in you r affidavit that you prepared that evening is true and
correct?

A:

Yes, ma'am.

4.

,.

The above referenced testimony of JEFF M . HENDERSON, as he then and there

well knew and bel ieved, was false in that JEFF M . HENDERSON did not see Ronald Crawford
on January Sand January 6, 2009, in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
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All in violation ofTitie 18, United States Code, Section 1621 ( 1).
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COUNT 56
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)

On or about April 30, 2009, in the Northern Di strict of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,

did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Ebony
Woods of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and protected by the Constitution and laws
of the United States, to wit, the right of Ebony Woods to be free from an unreasonable search and
seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation o f Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.
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COUNTS?
(Deprivation of Civi l Rights)
On or about June 2, 2009, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

J EFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act lUlder color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive Melanie
Richardson and Seanta Sinclair of rights, privileges, and immun ities secured and protected by the
Constitution and Jaws of the United States, to wit, the right of Melanie Richardson and Seanta
Sinclair to be free from an unreasonable search and seizure by one acting under color of law.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 242.

•

r

r
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COUNT 58
(Deprivation of Civil Rights)
On or about August 4, 2009, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,

JEFF M. HENDERSON,
did willfully act under color of law, statute, ordinance, regulation, and custom to deprive
Brandon Scott and Eliana Montoya·Rocha of rights, privileges, and immunities secured and
protected by the Constitution and laws of the United States, to wit, the right of Brandon Scott and
Eliana Montoya-Rocha to be free from an wrreasonable search and seizure by one acting under

color oflaw.
All in violation of Tille 18, United States Code, Sect io n 242.
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COUNT 59
(Conspiracy to Commit Witness Tampering)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 59 that:

I.

On or about Juoe 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDE RSON became employed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD").
2.

On or about Apri l 16, 1985, WILLIAM A. YELTON became employed as a

police officer with the TPD.
l.

J EFF M. HENDE RSON and WILLIAM A. YE LT ON often assisted one

another in TPD investigations and were also close friends.
4.

From July 2002, through approx imate ly September 2009, Brando n Jay McFadden

was employed as a Special Agent with the Bureau of Alco hol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explos ives
("A TF"). During the majority of this time period, Brando n Jay McFadden was assigned to the

ATF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma with his principa l geographic area of
operations focusing on the Northern District of Oklahoma.
5.

Beginning on or about January 1,2007, through in or about October 2008,

Brandon Jay McFadden and JEFF M. HENDERSON often assisted one another in criminal
investigations and were also close friends. During this same time period, Brandon Jay McFadden
and JEFF M. HENDERSON participated in illegal activ ities, incl uding, but not li mited to, drug
trafficking and civil rights depri vations.

B.

The Charge
In or about Summer 2008, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendants,
JEFF M. HENDE RSON and
WILLIAM A. YELTON,

knowingly conspired and agreed with one another to use the threat of physical force against
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Brandon Jay McFadden with the intent to hinder, delay , or prevent Brandon Jay McFadden from
communicating to a law enforcement officer information relating to the commissio n of federal
offenses by JEFF M. HENDERSON, in violation of Title IS, United States Code, Section
ISI2(a)(2)(C).

C.

Overt Acts in Furlherance of the Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.
HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON performed one or more of the following overt
acts in the Northern District of OkJahoma:
I.

In or about Summer 2OOS, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A.
YELTON had a personal meeting with Brandon Jay McFadden at a water
treatment facility in the Northern District of Oklahoma.

2.

In or about Summer 2008, during the meeting described in Overt Act I of this
Count, WILLIAM A. YELTON and JEFF M. HENDERSON discussed with
Brandon Jay McFadden the fact that Brandon Jay McFadden's (and by
imp lication, JEFF M. HENDERSON 's) previous illegal activities might become
known to law enforcement authorities.

3.

In or about Summer 2008, during the meeting described in Overt Acts I and 2 of
this Count, WILLIAM A. YELTON drew hi s firearm and racked the slide on the
gun while instructing Brandon Jay McFadden to move to Lubbock, Texas.
WILLIAM A. YELTON further said words to the effect that Brandon Jay
McFadden should just hang out and keep his mouth shut.

All in violation of Tit le IS , United States Code, Section ISI2(k).

I,.
I
I

I
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COUNT 60

(Conspiracy to Commit Witness Tampering)
A.

It is pertinent to Count 60 that

1.

On or abou·t June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became emp loyed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department (<<TPD").
2.

On or about April1 6, 1985, WILLIAM A. YELTON became employed as a

police officer with the TPD.
3.

JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON often assisted one

another in TPD investigations and were also close friends.
4.

In Fall of2009, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON learned

that a Grand Jury for the Northern Distri ct of Oklahoma was conducting an investigation into law
enforcement corruption and that JEFF M. HENDERSON was a target of that investigation.
5.

In January 2010, JEFF M. HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON learned

that a grand jury subpoena had been issued requiring the appearance and testimony of Rochelle
Martin before the Grand Jury on February 2, 2010.

B.

i
II·

The Charge

From in or about late January 2010, through the return of the Indi ctment, in the Northern

II

District of Oklahoma, the defendants,
JEFF M. HENDERSON an d
WILLIAM A. YELTON,

knowingly conspired and agreed with one another and with other perso ns known and unknown to
the Grand Jury to corruptly persuade Rochelle Martin to withhold truthful testimony from a
Grand Jury duly empaneled in the Northern District of Oklahoma with the intent to prevent the
truthful testimony of Rochelle Martin in that official proceeding, in violation of Title 18, United
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States Code, Section 1512(b)(I).

C.

Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effectuate the objects thereof, JEFF M.

HENDERSON and WILLIAM A. YELTON perfonned one or more of the following overt
acts in the Northern District of Oklahoma:

I.

In late January 2010, after Rochelle Martin had been served with a federal grand
jury subpoena requiring her appearance and testimony February 2, 20 I 0,
WILLIAM L. YELTON drove JEFF M. HENDERSON to Rochelle Martin 's
residence.

2.

In late January 2010, after being driven to Martin's residence by WILLIAM L.
YELTON, JEFF M. HENDERSON met with Martin.

3.

At the time JEFF M. HENDERSON met with Martin in late January 2010, he
told her that if she testified at the grand jury, she could send him to prison.

4.

At the time JEFF M. HENDERSON met with Martin in late January 2010, he
provided her with a tape recorder and instructed her to record phone calls with
Demario Oates, who was Martin's boyfriend and a grand jury witness.

5.

In early May 2010,JEFF M. HENDERSON drove to Rochelle Martin's
residence and parked on her street for an extended time period.

6.

On or about April 8, 2010, JEFF M. HENDERSON, after being instructed by
TPD management to have no contact with Martin, caused a TPD officer known to
the Grand Jury to contact Rochelle Martin about her safety.

7.

In early May 2010, JEFF M. HENDERSON, after being instructed by TPD
management to have no contact with Martin, caused a person to meet with
Rochelle Martin and interview her.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(k).

101

,

.

COUNT 61
(Attempted Bribery of a Witness; Aiding and Abetting)
A.

It is pert inent to Count 61 that:

I.

On or about June 5, 1995, JEFF M. HENDERSON became employed as a police

officer with the Tulsa Police Department ("TPD").
2.

From July 2002, through approximately September 2009, Brandon Jay McFadden

was employed as a Special Agent with the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
("ATF"). During the majority of this time period, Brandon Jay McFadden was assigned to the

ATF Resident Agency located in Tulsa, Oklahoma with his pri ncipal geographic area of
operations focusi ng on the Northern Distri ct of Oklahoma.
3.

Beginning on or about January 1, 2007, through in or about October 2008,

Brandon Jay McFadden and JEFF M. HENDERSON often assisted one another in criminal
investigations and were also close friends. During th is same time period, Brandon Jay McFadden
and JEFF M. HENDERSON participated in illegal activities, including, but not limited to, drug
trafficking and civil rights deprivations.
4.

In April of 20 10, JEFF M. HENDERSON learned that a Grand Jury for the

Northern Distri ct of Oklahoma had returned an indictment against Brandon Jay McFadden in
which Brandon Jay McFadden was charged with various drug trafficking and related offenses.
5.

By April 20 10, JEFF M. HENDERSON was aware that he was also a target of

the same grand jury investigation in which Brandon Jay McFadden had been ind icted.
B.

The Charge

In or about April 20 I0, in the Northern District of Oklahoma, the defendant,
JEFF M. HENDERSON,
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aided and abetted by other

indivi~uals known to the Grand Jury, willfully endeavored by means

of bribery, to wit, attempting to akange free legal representation on behalf of Brandon Jay
McFadden, with the intent to hint er, delay, or prevent Brandon Jay McFadden from

communicating to a law enforce1ent officer infonnation relating to the commission of federal
offenses by JEFF M. HENDERfON.

All in violation of Title 1 ,United States Code, Section 1510(a) and Section 2.
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A TRUE BILL.

/s/

JANEW.DUKE
SPECIAL UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

. DUKE (Ark. B . 96190)
CK C. HARRIS (Ark. Bar #85069)
CIA S. HARRlS (Ark. Bar #89208)
ecial Assistant United States Attorneys
P.O. Box 1229
Little Rock, Arkansas 72203
(501) 340-2600
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